#### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

### THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

LEE V. COTTONE,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. \$194107

Appellate District Division Three, Case No. G042923
Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 06HFI734
The Honorable M. Marc Kelly, Judge

OCT 1 8 2011

#### RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS A. Children Clothe

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Does the inquiry of whether or not an act is an "offense," for purposes of qualifying as Evidence Code section 1108 propensity evidence, constitute a preliminary factual determination that must be made exclusively by the trial court, and not the jury, under Evidence Code section 405?

#### INTRODUCTION

Appellant molested his niece. At trial the prosecution produced evidence that in 1966 appellant similarly molested his sister. The trial court admitted the 1966 incident as Evidence Code section 1108 propensity evidence. As appellant was under the age of 14 when he molested his sister, before allowing the evidence, the trial court made the preliminary factual determination that appellant appreciated the wrongfulness of his conduct in 1966 such that he possessed capacity to have committed the crime. The Court of Appeal reversed the conviction based on its conclusion that the capacity question should have been decided by the jury.

The Court of Appeal's conclusion is incorrect because with questions governing the admissibility of evidence, such as this, preliminary factual determinations are to be resolved by the trial court and not the jury. But even assuming, arguendo, that the issue should have been submitted to the jury, the trial court had no sua sponte to instruct on capacity, and here, appellant did not request a pinpoint instruction as to capacity. Finally, even if there were error, it was harmless because even under the instructions given, the jury was required to determine that appellant possessed the criminal intent necessary to have committed the lewd act against his sister in 1966 before giving weight to that evidence. If the jury did not find such intent to gratify the sexual desires of himself or his sister, then it would not have credited this evidence. If, on the other hand, the jury found he was

mature enough to harbor this intent, then there was no likelihood the jury would have found he lacked capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his acts.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged with four counts of committing a lewd act upon a child under 14 in violation of Penal Code section 288, subdivision (a). (1 CT 51-52.) As to each count it was further alleged that substantial sexual contacted against the child, Brandi C., in violation of Penal Code section 1203.066, subdivision (a)(8). (1 CT 52.) At trial, Brandi C. testified as to the acts against her. (6 RT 1223-1226, 1237, 1242, 1248, 1253-1258.) The prosecution introduced, and the trial court admitted, pursuant to Evidence Code sections 1108 and 352, evidence that appellant had molested his five-year-old sister in 1966. (6 RT 1371-1375.) Before admitting the evidence, the trial court conducted an Evidence Code section 402 hearing. (4 RT 877.) During that hearing, appellant's sister, Linda, testified that in the fall of 1966, appellant touched her vagina. (4 RT 949-959.) While certain that the incident occurred no earlier than September 1966, Linda was unable to specifically state the precise date of the touching. (4 RT 949-951.) As appellant's date of birth was October 8, 1952, the evidence proved that at a minimum he was 13 years and 11 months old at the time of the touching. (4 RT 950-951, 973.)

Appellant's trial counsel argued that Evidence Code section 1108 propensity evidence is evidence of a prior sexual offense that constitutes a crime. And, under Penal Code section 26, it is presumed that the subject propensity evidence could not have constituted a crime because appellant was 13 years and 11 months of age when he committed the alleged act against his younger sister in 1966. Therefore, appellant's act against his sister could not be admissible under Evidence Code section 1108 unless the prosecution rebutted the section 26 presumption by showing appellant

appreciated the wrongfulness of his conduct when he committed it such that his conduct constituted a crime. (1 CT 284-287; 2 CT 302-303.)

After considering the evidence presented at the Evidence Code section 402 hearing, the trial court found that the preliminary fact – appellant's appreciation of the wrongfulness of his conduct as establishing capacity to commit crime – upon which the admissibility of the proffered Evidence Code section 1108 evidence relied, had been established. The trial court therefore ruled that appellant appreciated the wrongfulness of his conduct at the time of the touching such that, if it applied, the Penal Code section 26 capacity presumption had been rebutted by the prosecution. (4 RT 944, 973-995.) Therefore, as appellant's 1966 conduct constituted a crime, it was admitted under Evidence Code section 1108. (4 RT 994-995; 2 CT 305-306.) "It does not appear from the record [] that [appellant] requested the jury be instructed [as to capacity.]" (Slip. Opn. at p. 13.)

The jury subsequently convicted appellant of all four counts of committing a lewd act upon a child under 14 and found it to be true that each count involved substantial sexual contact with the child. (2 CT 387-390.)

On appeal, appellant argued that the trial court erred by failing to submit this preliminary capacity question to the jury. Specifically, he claimed that it was the responsibility of the jury to decide if he appreciated the wrongful nature of the act. The Court of Appeal agreed. It held that "the trial court should have submitted the issue to the jury" because, "the issue of whether a minor appreciates the wrongfulness of his conduct is a question for the trier of fact." (Opn. at pp. 11, 13.)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1998, Brandi was eight years old and living with her family in Torrance, California. (6 RT 1223.) Appellant was Brandi's uncle. (6 RT 1225-1226.) Over the course of the five years, when Brandi would spend

the night at the home of appellant and her aunt, appellant would place his hands into Brandi's pajamas at night and rub her vagina, buttocks and chest. (6 RT 1253-1256, 1259.) The touching would occur over and under Brandi's underwear. (6 RT 1256.) The touching never included digital penetration and appellant never attempted to make Brandi touch his genitals. (6 RT 1256-1257.) Brandi testified that the molestations occurred "every night" that she stayed at the home. (6 RT 1257-1258.)

Brandi further testified that approximately ten of her overnight visits included her younger sister and her cousin. (6 RT 1249-1252.) During those visits, the three girls would sleep together in the same bed in the guest room. (6 RT 1251.) Because her sister was prone to falling out of the bed, she always slept between Brandi and her cousin. (6 RT 1251.) With this arrangement, appellant would enter the room at night, sit down on the side of the bed and then "do the same thing" to Brandi. (6 RT 1253.) Specifically, appellant would pull the covers back, place his hands into Brandi's pajamas and rub her vagina, buttocks and chest, after which he would get up and leave. (6 RT 1254-1255, 1257.) Brandi testified that this occurred "every night" that she slept with her sister and cousin. (6 RT 1258.)

Brandi never reported the molestation to her parents because she was afraid. (6 RT 1245.) She never attempted to wake her aunt, cousin or sister because she was afraid. (6 RT 1243, 1258.) She was too "scared to tell anyone." (6 RT 1258.) Brandi never ordered appellant to stop because she was afraid. (6 RT 1243.) She never asked to move to another room because she was scared to sleep alone. (6 RT 1242, 1247.)

At some point after these incidents had been occurring for "several years," Brandi began objecting to her mother that she no longer wished to visit appellant's home. (6 RT 1259-1260.) Although she told her mother that she did not wish to go, Brandi did not explain why. (6 RT 1260.)

Brandi's mother responded that her aunt was expecting her and that she needed to go. (6 RT 1260.) Therefore, Brandi continued to go and appellant continued to molest her. (6 RT 1261.) Brandi's aunt testified that she recalled Brandi's pleas. Eventually, due to the fact that appellant fell ill, the regular visits ceased. (6 RT 1343.)

A number of years later, as Brandi and her mother were en route to a wedding shower at appellant's home, the two were discussed the mother's dissatisfaction with some comments that appellant had made regarding Brandi's brother, Brandi asserted, "well, if you think that's bad, you should -- you don't know what he has done to me." (6 RT 1262-1263, 1343-1344.) Brandi subsequently disclosed the specific acts that appellant had committed against her. (6 RT 1344.) Shortly thereafter, the matter was referred to law enforcement. (6 RT 1348.)

Laura Brodie, a clinical and forensic psychologist, testified on behalf of the prosecution. (6 RT 1361.) Brodie testified that she was familiar with child sexual abuse accommodation syndrome and its effect on the reporting tendencies of sexually abused children. (6 RT 1363-1365.) Based on the syndrome, Brodie opined that it would not be unusual for a sexually abused child to delay reporting for five years. (6 RT 1367.)

#### A. Evidence Code Section 1108 Evidence

Appellant's younger sister, Linda Cottone, testified that she was five or six years old when appellant touched her vagina. (6 RT 1372.) Linda was in the kitchen of the family home with a friend, when appellant approached and asked the girls if they would like to play a game that Linda had never heard of. (6 RT 1372-1373.) Linda testified that she did not recall anyone else being present in the home. (6 RT 1373.) After Linda's friend departed, appellant picked Linda up and carried her to the downstairs basement area of the home. (6 RT 1373-1374.) As appellant held Linda, he moved his fingers inside her underwear and rubbed her vagina. (6 RT

1374.) Appellant was at a minimum 13 years an 11 months old at the time. (4 RT 973.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. PRELIMINARY FACTUAL DETERMINATIONS UPON WHICH THE ADMISSIBILITY OF PROFFERED EVIDENCE RESTS, INCLUDING CAPACITY TO COMMIT A CRIME, ARE LEFT TO THE SOUND DISCRETION OF THE TRIAL COURTS

The Court of Appeal's conclusion that the trial court is required to resubmit a preliminary factual question to the jury is at odds with the plain language of Evidence Code section 405 and the legislative history supporting it. The lower court's conclusion further conflicts with a long line of California court decisions, as well as those of the federal courts, holding that the duty to determine preliminary factual questions lies exclusively with the trial court. The Court of Appeal's radical departure from the manner in which evidentiary determinations are currently resolved would inevitably entitle a criminal defendant to countless mini-trials and the opportunity for a "second crack" to re-litigate a wide variety of preliminary issues from hearsay exceptions to Fourth and Fifth Amendment issues within his or her trial. Further, as will be shown, the Court of Appeal's conclusion improperly allows for an absurd result.

#### A. Capacity to Commit Crime is a Preliminary Question

Evidence Code section 1108 allows for the introduction of the defendant's other criminal sexual offenses as propensity evidence. (Evid. Code, § 1108, subds. (a) & (d)(1).) The Court of Appeal found that the plain language of Evidence Code section 1108 "mandates that for evidence of a prior sexual offense to be admissible in a case involving a sexual offense, the prior sexual offense must be a crime." (Opn. at p. 9, italics in original.) Assuming that the Court of Appeal is correct that section 1108 only allows for the introduction of acts that constitute a "crime," that

preliminary factual determination hinged on appellant's capacity in 1966 as a person capable of committing a crime under Penal Code section 26.

In 1966, as it does today, Penal Code section 26 provided: "All persons are capable of committing crimes except those belonging to the following classes: ¶ One – Children under the age of 14, in the absence of clear proof that at the time of committing the act charged against them, they knew its wrongfulness." (In re Gladys R. (1970) 1 Cal.3d 855, 862; Pen. Code, § 26, ¶ 1.) Section 26 provides a rebuttable presumption that a child under 14 years of age cannot commit a crime unless it is shown by clear and convincing proof that the child understood the wrongfulness of his conduct at the time he engaged in it. (In re Manuel L. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 229, 238; People v. Lewis (2001) 26 Cal.4th 334, 378.) The ability of a 13-yearold child to commit a crime presents an issue of capacity because children "cannot entertain general criminal intent, and therefore cannot commit criminal acts." (See *In re M*. (1978) 22 Cal.3d 419, 424; Pen. Code, § 26.) Accordingly, appellant's appreciation of the wrongfulness of his 1966 conduct constituted a preliminary fact that was a prerequisite to introduction of the 1966 conduct as section 1108 propensity evidence. (See Evid. Code, § 400; *People v. Galambos* (2002) 104 Cal. App. 4th 1147, 1156 ["[A] 'preliminary fact' is broadly defined as 'a fact upon the existence or nonexistence of which depends the admissibility or inadmissibility of evidence.""].)

As discussed below, the Court of Appeal's conclusion that this preliminary fact must have been submitted to the jury creates a conflict in the law and would result in a radical departure from the manner in which evidentiary issues are currently decided.

B. The Express Language And Legislative History of Evidence Code Section 405 Demonstrate That Disputes Regarding Preliminary Facts, Including Capacity, Upon Which the Admissibility of Proffered Evidence Rests, Shall Be Determined Exclusively by the Trial Court

The Court of Appeal's conclusion that criminal defendants are entitled to a "second crack" at unfavorable evidentiary rulings fundamentally redefines the duties of the trial court and the jury in an manner that will manifestly burden the judicial system and that is entirely inconsistent with the plain language of Evidence Code section 405 as well as the legislative history supporting it.

The Evidence Code makes clear that disputes regarding preliminary facts – including capacity – upon which the admissibility of proffered evidence rests, shall be determined exclusively by the trial courts. As a threshold matter, through Evidence Code section 310<sup>1</sup>, subdivision (a), the Legislature directs that "the admissibility of evidence" is to be "decided by the court[,]" and, "[d]etermination of issues of fact preliminary to the admission of evidence are to be decided by the court[.]" (*Ibid*.) As to the determination of disputed preliminary facts, Evidence Code section 405 similarly states:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In its entirety, Evidence Code section 310, subdivision (a) provides:

All questions of law (including but not limited to questions concerning the construction of statutes and other writings, the admissibility of evidence, and other rules of evidence) are to be decided by the court. Determination of issues of fact preliminary to the admission of evidence are to be decided by the court as provided in Article 2 (commencing with Section 400) of Chapter 4.

With respect to preliminary fact determinations not governed by Section 403[<sup>2</sup>] or 404[<sup>3</sup>]:

- (a) When the existence of a preliminary fact is disputed, the court shall indicate which party has the burden of producing evidence and the burden of proof on the issue as implied by the rule of law under which the question arises. The court *shall* determine the existence or nonexistence of the preliminary fact and *shall* admit or exclude the proffered evidence as required by the rule of law under which the question arises.
- (b) If a preliminary fact is also a fact in issue in the action:
- (1) The jury shall not be informed of the court's determination as to existence or nonexistence of the preliminary fact.
- (2) If the proffered evidence is admitted, the jury shall not be instructed to disregard the evidence if its determination of the fact differs from the court's determination of the preliminary fact.

#### (Emphasis added.)

Initially, the plain language of Evidence Code section 405, subdivision (a), is clear and therefore controlling. A fundamental rule of statutory construction is that a court should ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. (DuBois v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1993) 5 Cal.4th 382, 387, citing Nickelsberg v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1991) 54 Cal.3d 288, 294.) In construing a statute, the reviewing court's first task is to look to the language of the statute itself. (Ibid.) When the language is clear and there is no uncertainty

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Evidence Code section 403 involves the "[d]etermination of foundational and other preliminary facts where relevancy, person knowledge, or authenticity is disputed"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Evidence Code section 404 involves the "[d]etermination of whether proffered evidence is incriminatory."

as to the legislative intent, the court looks no further and simply enforces the statute according to its terms. (DuBois, supra, at pp. 387-388, citing Hutnick v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. (1988) 47 Cal.3d 456, 464.) Here, Evidence Code section 405 directs that it is the trial court that "shall determine the existence or nonexistence of the preliminary fact[.]" (Evid. Code, § 405, subd. (a); see also Evid. Code, § 310 [questions of law, including "the admissibility of evidence" are to be decided by the court]; People v. Chapman (1975) 50 Cal. App. 3d 872, 879 ["section 405 vests the court with the authority to make certain determinations as to the existence or nonexistence of preliminary facts and admit or exclude proffered evidence on the basis of those determinations"].) If the statutory language is clear and unambiguous the inquiry ends. Because the plain language of section 405 is clear, it must govern. (Pineda v. Bank of America, N.A. (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1389, 1394 [if there is no ambiguity in the language, the reviewing court presumes the Legislature meant what it said and the plain meaning of the statute governs].)

The legislative history provides further, albeit unnecessary, confirmation. As stated in the Comment of the Assembly Committee on the Judiciary to Evidence Code section 405, "[s]ection 405 requires the judge to determine the existence or nonexistence of disputed preliminary facts except in certain situations covered by Sections 403 and 404." (1 Assem. J. (1965 Reg. Sess.) p. 1722<sup>4</sup>.) Further, "[i]f the judge is persuaded" that the preliminary fact has been established, he or she "either admits or excludes the proffered evidence as required by the rule of law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Comment of the Assembly Committee on Judiciary is also provided in the annotations following Evidence Code section 405. (See Assem. Com., West's Ann. Evid. Code, § 405 (2011 desktop ed.) pp. 33-36.) Respondent has attached these materials in its request for judicial notice, filed in support of its opening brief on the merits.

under which the question arises." (1 Assem. J. at p. 1723.) Indeed, the Committee, observing that section 405 was "generally consistent with existing law[,]" discussed instances where section 405 would "substantially change the law" because in those instances, the trial court was formerly permitted to submit preliminary factual issues to the jury. (*Id.* at pp. 1723-1726.) These instances included the voluntariness of confessions and the existence of foundations supporting certain hearsay exceptions. (*Id.* at p. 1726.) The Committee provided, "[u]nder Section 405, the judge's rulings on these questions are final; the jury does not have an opportunity to redetermine the issue." (*Ibid.*) It characterized the practice of providing a litigant with a "second crack," by way of resubmitting such preliminary factual determinations to the jury, as "unsatisfactory." (*Id.* at p. 1727.)

Notably, comments made in the Assembly Interim Committee on Judiciary, discussing the subject legislation, reveal that Evidence Code section 405 acts to protect the rights of the criminally accused. In the context of the admissibility of a confession, Committee witness John H. DeMoully, Executive Secretary of the California Law Revision Commission, testified:

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