Supreme Court of the State of California

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

υ.

SUPREME COURT FILED

LEE V. COTTONE, Defendant and Appellant.

DEC 3 0 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal Case No. G042923 Orange County Superior Court No. 06HF1734

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

The Honorable M. Marc Kelly, Judge Presiding

LAW OFFICES OF

WILLIAM J. KOPENY

8001 Irvine Center Drive, Suite 400 Irvine, California 92618-2956 Telephone: (949) 754-2944

Facsimile: (949) 754-2912

WILLIAM J. KOPENY (SBN 61764)

Attorney for Lee V. Cottone Defendant and Appellant

Supreme Court of the State of California

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

Appellant is entitled to a reversal for a new trial because he was denied a jury trial on whether or not the People presented sufficient evidence to carry their burden to establish that the alleged act against Linda C., in 1966, was a "crime" within the meaning of Evidence Code Section 1108. This violated his federal

Constitutional and state statutory and Constitutional rights to a jury trial.

Denial of the right to a jury trial violates the Sixth Amendment and the California Constitution. Depending on the circumstances, it is either a "structural error" which is reversible error per se, under Sullivan v. Louisiana (1993) 508 U.S. 275 [holding that a defective reasonable doubt instruction entirely denies the defendant a jury trial and is a structural defect] or a constitutional error tested under the harmless error standard.

Due process entitles a defendant to reversal of a state conviction where the state arbitrarily denies him a state guaranteed right to a jury trial. See *Hicks v. Oklahoma* (1980) 447 U.S. 343. In *Hicks v. Oklahoma*, *supra*, 447 U.S. 343, 346, the Supreme Court held that the arbitrary deprivation of a state law jury determination - in that case a jury sentence - abridged the defendant's Fourteenth Amendment right to substantive due process. Here, the trial court arbitrarily deprived Appellant of his state law right under Article I, sec. 15 of the California Constitution and Evidence Code Section 1108 to a jury determination on the question of whether or not the Defendant has previously committed a sex offense.

Most of the subdivisions of Penal Code Section 26 have been held to create defenses which require the accused to raise a reasonable doubt whether he has that capacity. See e.g., *People v. Lara* (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 102, 110 ["[A]ccident or misfortune requires the defendant to prove three negatives: he did not act with an evil design; he did not act with intent; and, he did not act with

'culpable negligence.' "; *People v. Thurmond* (1985) 175 Cal.App.3d 865, 873 ["[T]he burden is on the defendant to establish the absence of evil design, intention and culpable negligence."] *Id.*, at p. 871.

In that situation, the defendant is only entitled to an instruction on the Penal Code Section 26 defense if *he* adduces adequate evidence to establish a reasonable doubt whether the defense was present.

However, unlike the other sub-divisions of Penal Code Section 26, subdivision One places the burden of disproving the defense squarely upon the prosecution. *In re Manuel L.*, *supra*, 7 Cal.4th 229, 234.³

Lewis clearly supports Appellant's view that he was entitled to have the issue submitted to the jury, and to have the jury instructed that the People must prove by clear and convincing evidence that he had the capacity to commit the crime alleged by Linda C.

Because no instructions were given to the jury informing the jury that before it could consider the defendant to be guilty of a prior sex crime, it must determine whether, by clear and convincing evidence, he knew the wrongfulness of the conduct alleged from

³ In the context of a juvenile prosecution, the Supreme Court there held, "the prosecution must present <u>clear and convincing evidence</u> that the minor knows the wrongfulness of his conduct.

1966, the trial court did not ensure that Appellant received a fair trial on this matter.⁴

Unlike the other Penal Code Section 26 issues, the burden is on the People to prove a defendant under the age of 14 has the capacity to commit a crime, and this must be proved to the jury when the jury is asked to find that he committed that crime in the past as a part of the People's overall case.

Here, the jury was never required to determine that Appellant had the capacity to commit a crime in 1966 when he was alleged to have touched Linda C. and he was thus deprived of a jury trial on the alleged prior sex crime.

D.

THE ERROR IN THIS CASE WAS CLEARLY PREJUDICIAL AND REQUIRES A NEW TRIAL

By any standard, the failure to require proof of capacity to commit the 1108 evidence was prejudicial and reversible error. To the extent the total denial of the right to a jury trial on the alleged prior sex crime is structural error, it is reversible error per se under *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, *supra*.

However, judged under the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, or less demanding "miscarriage of justice" standard, the error

⁴ Cf., *People v. Lewis*, 26 Cal.4th at 380, where the Supreme Court further held that instructing the jury in the language of Penal Code Section 26, subdivision one was adequate.

is still prejudicial. As noted, when the jury was not required to determine a fact essential to the sentencing determination in a federal crime in *Neder v. United States* (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 7-15, the Supreme Court applied a harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard of review, and determined that unless the trial record contained overwhelming evidence on the fact or element omitted from the instructions, the error could not be harmless.

Here, the People presented <u>no evidence</u> on the issue of the Defendant's knowledge of the wrongfulness of the touching Linda C. claimed he engaged in. Rather the trial evidence was limited Linda C.'s recitation of the fact that Appellant asked her if she wanted to play a game, he took her downstairs, put her on his shoulder, and sometime while on his shoulder put his finger inside her pants and touched the "area" of her vagina and rubbed that "area." RT 1370-1375.

There was no effort to establish any surrounding circumstances relevant to prove knowledge that this alleged act was wrong. The prosecutor did not even offer the evidence he relied on in the pre-trial hearing on the issue of knowledge of wrongfulness, such as whether the area downstairs was "secluded."

Nor was the evidence of Appellant's guilt on the charge crime "overwhelming" or even particularly strong.

The judgment in this case must be reversed because Appellant was deprived of the right to a jury trial on the Penal Code Section 26 requirement of capacity to commit the crime alleged under Evidence Code Section 1108.

In addition, the evidence presented on that issue to the jury was legally insufficient to establish he had knowledge of the wrongfulness of the act Linda C. claimed he committed against her in 1966 when he was 13 and she was 5.

Further, the 1108 evidence was prejudicial, in light of the weakness of the testimony of the complaining witness in the charged counts, and that prejudice was realized in the prosecutor's argument to the jury.

Admitting Evidence of Linda C.'s Allegation of Another Sex Offense Was Clearly Prejudicial To Appellant

There are two categories of reasons that admitting the uncharged sex crime alleged by Linda C. was prejudicial: (a) the victim named in the Information, Brandi C., was effectively and thoroughly impeached; and (b) the prosecutor repeatedly relied on the Linda C. incident to corroborate and shore up Brandi C.'s credibility.

The record of the cross-examination and impeachment of Brandi C. is lengthy, but because it is alluded to in the argument of counsel, no overly long reference to it is necessary here. Appellant will detail that cross-examination in his reply brief if Respondent questions that it was effective.

In argument, however, it was clear that the prosecutor was very concerned that the skilled defense attorney had severely damaged the credibility of his complaining witness. This is demonstrated by the fact that: (1) in his opening statement he attempted to tell the jury that if the jury believes his victim, that is sufficient to convict; (2) he tried to persuade the trial court not to include the phrase "beyond a reasonable doubt" in the jury instructions, saying that the testimony of a complaining witness alone is sufficient to convict; and (3) during his own argument to the jury the prosecutor emphasized the fact that this case turns entirely on the credibility of Brandi C., which, he contended, was amply corroborated by the "propensity" instruction for which Linda C.'s testimony was the only predicate.

Specifically, in his argument, the prosecutor quoted CALCRIM 1190, as modified by the court on Appellant's motion, to include the language "conviction of the -- of a sexual assault may be based on the testimony of the complaining witness alone if proved beyond a reasonable doubt." RT 1489:4-12.

He immediately thereafter told the jury that "that's really <u>the</u> <u>central issue in this case</u>," i.e., whether or not the jury should or could believe the complaining witness beyond a reasonable doubt. RT 1489:13-13.

The prosecutor then attempted to anticipate the defense arguments about Brandi C.'s credibility, and to refute them. See generally, RT 1489-1490. In doing so, the prosecutor virtually conceded that she "is mistaken" about how many visits there were. *Id.*, 1490:1-3.

⁵ See discussion of CALCRIM 1190, RT 1464-1467.

The prosecutor then told the jury to ask if there was "something in her testimony" that made the jury distrust her. *Id.*, 1490:24-25.

He stated, "you needn't have any more facts than the essence of truth." RT 1491:5-6.

Referring to it as "icing on the cake," the prosecutor told the jury the judge would allow them to consider "evidence of uncharged acts" and referenced "the testimony of Linda C." if the jury believed "that it is more likely than not that she was also a victim of the defendant." RT 1491:10-11. But his later arguments belied the "icing on the cake" analogy.

The prosecutor continued on the importance of the Linda C. uncharged act testimony, telling the jury that the "instruction says" Appellant is "predisposed or inclined to commit sexual offenses" and "that, Ladies and Gentlemen, is powerful evidence." RT 1491:14-24.

Still referring to this "propensity" rule, the prosecutor told the jury that without it, "it's his word against her word" but "when you think about it, when you think about it, a man comes here, a grown man comes into court charged with an offense of this nature and you look at the evidence in this case and you must consider yourself pondering the significance of it." RT 1492:1-5. Clearly, in context, "it" was the uncharged Linda C. evidence, and the jury instruction allowing the jury to draw the inference of a propensity to commit the charged crime from that uncharged act.

The prosecutor then told the jury that the Defendant is "either extraordinarily unlucky or he is guilty" arguing:

"I mean, you know, his five-year-old, six-year-old sister comes into court and testifies that her older brother molests her and then 30 years later he is touching another young girl, who's also a family member. How unlucky is that? He is guilty." RT 1492:6-11.

The prosecutor himself admitted this case turned on credibility of Brandi C.

"This is a case where the facts are going to show that you're going to have to make a credibility determination with parties and determine whether or not Brandi C. is telling the truth in light of all the evidence, and <u>it's</u> really a case of it happened or it didn't happen." RT 1492:13-19. See similar statement at RT 1506:17-18.

He emphasized an instruction telling the jury not to "reject testimony just because of inconsistency if you believe that they're unimportant." *Id.*, 1495:15-16. The prosecutor then repeated that the complaining witness' lack of accurate memory regarding "number of times" or "whether the light is on" are not important. *Id.*, 17-22.

He then addressed prior inconsistent statements by Brandi C. to the effect that when she was interviewed by the police she said she did not sleep in the bed and/or did not recall being touched. RT 1496:2-12.

⁶ There the prosecutor told the jury, "She is either telling the truth or she is not."

He argued that because she repeated a more incriminating statement three times, and later remembered that she was touched in another room with two other young girls in the same bed, that this was evidence of her credibility (RT 1496:13-1497:3), and argued that "that's corroboration. You can take that as the truth." *Id.*, 1497:1-2.

The prosecutor even argued that the fact that she repeated the accusation to the wife of Appellant "corroborates her testimony. It's a crime." in pressing on the issue of credibility. RT 1497:11-16.

The prosecutor made the statement that "reasonable doubt" "has to be based on the evidence," which is a misstatement of the law. But then added a highly prejudicial and legally erroneous claim, that reasonable doubt is "not speculation or conjecture, not a mere conflict in the evidence." RT 1498:1498.

In telling the jurors their duties, the prosecutor told them they can't have sympathy for the defendant, but did not mention that they should not base their verdict on sympathy for the victim. RT 1498:21-26.

In returning to inconsistencies in Brandi C.'s testimony regarding how many times Brandi C. visited Defendant and his wife, the prosecutor repeated that "it doesn't really matter how many times it was. What's important for you is to realize that Brandi doesn't have a calendar. She is not keeping track of everything." RT 1499-1500.

⁷ Because obviously, it can be based on the *absence* of evidence to convince the jury.

After arguing that Brandi's mother "corroborated Brandi's testimony" (RT 1500:17), the prosecutor admitted that she was "cross-examined and discredited" and asked the jury to consider how "devastated as a mother she must have been," without referencing the issue of not deciding the case based on any sympathy. RT 1500:25-1501:3.

Near the end of his argument, the prosecutor returned to the testimony of uncharged acts and the 1108 instruction regarding the allegations of Linda C., describing her testimony in some detail. RT 1502-1503.

After describing her testimony, the prosecutor again argued that the jury "should" [not can] find that Defendant has a propensity to touch little girls, as follows:

"...[H]er older brother manipulates the vagina of his five-year-old sister. Huh. Perhaps he has an inclination for young girls. Who does that? Who touches their little sister like that? Hm, somebody who has a sexual interest in little girls does. [¶] And why are we here today? Because the defendant's been accused of touching a little girl. This shows propensity. The law allows us to do that and you should follow the law." RT 1503:16-24. [Underlining supplied.]

In winding up his argument, the prosecutor described the alleged crimes as "the defendant took advantage of a vulnerable young family member who didn't say no, who was scared to say anything. After the first time, it was game on. She did not say

anything. It was an easy mark. She didn't say no. [¶] The defendant molested his younger sister by rubbing her vagina in a similar fashion." RT 1505:1-7.

Just before discussing the verdict forms, the prosecutor argued:

"Look at the testimony of Brandi C. It's enough to prove the case if you believe her beyond a reasonable doubt. Corroboration through the prior statements and what we call 1108 evidence or the testimony of Linda C." RT 1506:9-12.

The prosecutor concluded his opening argument:

"At the end of the day you're going to come back with guilty findings because you're going to find that the testimony of Brandi C. on the essential elements of what she's testified to, her demeanor, her character, together with the testimony of Linda C. is going to show you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did in fact commit these acts" RT 1506:19-26.

Besides the heavy reliance on this evidence by the prosecutor in argument, there are other factors supporting the notion that this error was prejudicial.

For example, the case was tried previously, and the jury was deadlocked, suggesting that it was a close case, and that virtually any error bearing significantly on the credibility of the complaining witness would be prejudicial.

The error concerning the 1108 evidence was a miscarriage of justice under a *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836, standard (see *People v. Cahill* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 478, 501; and *People v. Breverman, supra,* 19 Cal.4th 142, 173-174), and where, as here, the inadmissible evidence went to the credibility of the People's witness, it may be reviewed under the *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard. (See *People v. Woodward* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 329, 341 [erroneously received prior used by prosecutor in final argument]; *People v. Oracalles* (1948) 32 Cal.2d 562, 573 [This Court reversed because it could not conclude that the jury's verdict rested solely on admissible evidence]; and *People v. Davis* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 648, 656-657.]

On this record it is clear that this case turned entirely upon the credibility of the severely impeached complaining witness Brandi C., and that the prosecutor knew that he would win or lose depending on how the jury evaluated her credibility.

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